#### IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

NO. 78,338

ROBERT D. HEINEY,

Appellant,

v.

THE STATE OF FLORIDA,

Appellee.

ON APPEAL FROM THE CIRCUIT COURT OF THE FIRST JUDICIAL CIRCUIT, IN AND FOR OKALOOSA COUNTY, FLORIDA

**INITIAL BRIEF OF APPELLANT** 

LARRY HELM SPALDING Capital Collateral Representative Florida Bar No. 0125540

JUDITH J. DOUGHERTY Assistant CCR Florida Bar No. 0187786

GAIL E. ANDERSON Assistant CCR Florida Bar No. 0841544

OFFICE OF THE CAPITAL COLLATERAL REPRESENTATIVE 1533 South Monroe Street Tallahassee, Florida 32301 (904) 487-4376

**COUNSEL FOR APPELLANT** 

## PRELIMINARY STATEMENT

### STATEMENT OF THE CASE AND THE FACTS

On August 24, 1978, Mr. Heiney was indicted for first degree murder and robbery in Okaloosa County, Florida (R. 1). Attorney David Pascoe, an Assistant Public Defender, was appointed to represent Mr. Heiney prior to the filing of the indictment (see R. 3). Mr. Pascoe later entered private practice, but was appointed to represent Mr. Heiney throughout his capital trial (PC-R. 4; R. 92-93).

Commencing September 28, 1978, Mr. Heiney was tried before a jury (R. 470-1294), and on March 2, 1978, he was found guilty of first degree murder and robbery (R. 171-72, 1291). On March 8, 1978, the penalty phase was conducted before the jury (R. 173-216, 1295-1344). Trial counsel presented no evidence or witnesses on Mr. Heiney's behalf (R. 1310). A majority of the jurors recommended a sentence of life (R. 216, 1344).

Sentencing was conducted on March 29, 1979. Counsel presented no evidence or argument to support the jury's life recommendation (R. 245). The sentencing judge found the existence of three statutory aggravating circumstances. Addressing only the statutory mitigating factors, the judge found none to exist on that record. The sentencing judge overrode the jury's life recommendation and sentenced Mr. Heiney to death (R. 219-223, 244-251).

Mr. Heiney's conviction and sentence were affirmed on direct appeal. <u>Heiney v. State</u>, 447 So.2d 210 (Fla. 1984) (<u>Heiney I</u>). Mr. Heiney's petition for writ of certiorari was denied by the Supreme Court. Heiney v. Florida, 469 U.S. 920 (1984).

Mr. Heiney filed a motion to vacate the conviction and sentence pursuant to Fla. R. Crim. P. 3.850 together with an appendix (PC-R. 195-359, 360-747). On May 23, 1989, the trial court summarily denied all relief without a hearing, and Mr. Heiney appealed.

On February 1, 1990, this Court reversed that portion of the order denying Mr. Heiney's claim of ineffective assistance of counsel at sentencing and remanded the case to the circuit court for an evidentiary hearing on that issue. Heiney v. State, 558 So.2d 398 (Fla. 1990)(Heiney II). Pursuant to the remand, the circuit court conducted an evidentiary hearing on May 6-7, 1991,

limited to the claim of ineffective assistance of counsel during the penalty and sentencing phase of trial (PC-R, 1-194).

At the evidentiary hearing, Mr. Heiney presented the testimony of David Pascoe, his trial attorney, and James Graham, counsel's investigator. Mr. Heiney's sisters, Kay Yanni and Jean Vallera, and niece, Lou Ann Ward, testified. The affidavit of another sister, Jacqueline Ward, who was unable to attend because of medical reasons, was also admitted into evidence (PC-R. 59; Defense Exhibits I & J). Finally, Mr. Heiney presented the testimony of two mental health experts: Dr. Jethro Toomer, a Board Certified psychologist with a specialty in forensic psychology, and Dr. James D. Larson, a neuropsychologist specializing in forensic psychology, each of whom had examined and evaluated Mr. Heiney. Numerous documentary exhibits were received in evidence. The State presented no testimony. The testimony and evidence presented at the hearing is detailed in the argument section of this brief.

On July 1, 1991, following the evidentiary hearing, the circuit court entered the following order:

- 1. For the purposes of the penalty phase Judge Wells found the following aggravating factors:
  - a) That the defendant was under parole supervision [sic] at the time of the offense:
  - b) The murder was committed during the course of a robbery; and,
  - c) The murder was especially hienous [sic], atrocious and cruel.
- 2. The trial judge appears to have considered only the seven statutory mitigating factors and found none of them to exist.
- 3. The defendant has asserted that there exists non-statutory mitigating factors which should have been investigated, discovered and presented by trial counsel. Although numerous in the petition for relief, this court finds that the asserted mitigating factors merge into the following:
  - a) The defendant was a chronic substance abuser and may have been affected by alcohol and/or other drugs at the time of the offense;

- b) The defendant suffers and has been diagnosed has [sic] having a borderline personality disorder;
- c) That defendant was chronically abused physically and emotionally as a child; and,
- d) The combination of these factors could have resulted in a person who has a very difficult time coping with an extremely stressful situation.

There was additional evidence that the defendant has brain damage, however, it was insufficient to establish that fact.

The defense asserted that trial counsel was ineffective because he did not investigate, discover or present the above factors for the trial court's consideration during the penalty phase of the trial.

It is well established that <u>Hitchcock</u> type error has been interpreted by the Supreme Court to be applied retroactively and the State's contention that trial counsel's handling of the case cannot be ineffective because he followed the then-existing law seems to have been disposed of by the Supreme Court's retroactive application of <u>Hitchcock</u> type error. Applying <u>Hitchcock</u> standard, trial counsel should have investigated to determine the existence of the above mentioned mitigating factors. Had counsel done so, he would have discovered them to have existed and should have presented them to the trial court during the penalty phase of trial, which counsel did not.

It is therefore determined that trial counsel's handling of the penalty phase of trial was measurably below the standard for reasonably competent counsel. The question then becomes; is there reasonable probability that the result would have been different had these mitigating factors been presented? Although numerous the mitigating factors found to exist when balanced against the aggravating factors found to exist cannot reasonably be determined to outweigh them. I find no reasonable probability that the resulting imposition of the death sentence would have been different had the trial court been given the opportunity to consider the above found mitigating factors.

Because the non-statutory mitigating factors found to exist in this case when weighed against the existing aggravating factors would not have reasonably persuaded the trial court against a jury override, the Motion for Post-Conviction Relief as to the ineffective assistance of counsel is hereby DENIED.

(PC-R. 2333-36). Thereafter, Mr. Heiney perfected this appeal (PC-R. 2337-38).

### **SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT**

I. The lower court found that trial counsel's performance at the penalty phase of trial was measurably below that of reasonably competent counsel. The court further found that nonstatutory mitigation (set forth in the order) did exist, and that this evidence could have been discovered by trial counsel and should have been presented during the original penalty phase. Additional uncontroverted evidence establishing two statutory mitigating factors was not discussed in the lower court's order. The Rule 3.850 court erroneously concluded that prejudice had not been established because the court determined that the mitigation found by the court did not outweigh the aggravating factors. Because the court believed mitigation did not outweigh the aggravators, the court therefore concluded that there was no reasonable probability that the original trial judge would have acted differently in overriding the jury's life recommendation. The lower court applied the wrong standard when assessing prejudice in an override case where no mitigating evidence was presented at the penalty phase and where the trial judge believed no mitigation existed.

The correct test for prejudice, which the lower court failed to apply, is whether there is a reasonable probability that the mitigating evidence which was not presented at the penalty phase because of trial counsel's deficient performance would have provided a reasonable basis to support the jury's life recommendation. Stevens v. State. Where a reasonable basis exists to support the jury's life recommendation, an override by the sentencing judge is improper. In an override case where no mitigation was presented at the penalty phase or judge sentencing and where the trial judge viewed the case as one without mitigation, when in fact mitigation does exist but was unpresented because of trial counsel's deficient performance, confidence in the outcome is undermined; consequently, prejudice has been established. Stevens. The lower court erred as a matter of law in concluding that prejudice had not been shown. Mr. Heiney fully met both prongs required by Strickland to show ineffective assistance of counsel during the penalty phase of his trial, and was erroneously denied relief. Mr. Heiney is now entitled to relief.

## **ARGUMENT**

MR. HEINEY WAS DENIED THE EFFECTIVE ASSISTANCE OF COUNSEL DURING THE PENALTY PHASE OF HIS CAPITAL TRIAL IN VIOLATION OF THE SIXTH, EIGHTH AND FOURTEENTH AMENDMENTS, AND THE LOWER COURT ERRED IN DENYING HIS CLAIM FOR RELIEF

Following the evidentiary hearing ordered by this Court, the lower court found that "trial counsel's handling of the penalty phase of the trial was measurabl[y] below the standard established for reasonably competent counsel" (PC-R. 2335). The lower court found as a matter of fact that "trial counsel should have investigated to determine the existence of . . . mitigating factors. Had counsel done so, he would have discovered them to have existed and should have presented them to the trial court during the penalty phase, which counsel did not" (PC-R. 2334-35). The lower court further found, as a matter of fact, that the evidence presented at the hearing established four mitigating factors:

- a) The defendant was a chronic substance abuser and may have been affected by alcohol and/or other drugs at the time of the offense;
- b) The defendant suffers and has been diagnosed []as having a borderline personality disorder;
- c) That defendant was chronically abused phyically and emotionally as a child; and,
- d) The combination of these factors could have resulted in a person who has a very difficult time coping with any extremely stressful situation.

(PC-R. 2334).1

Having found that trial counsel's performance was deficient and that the evidence established mitigating factors, the court nevertheless denied relief based solely upon an erroneous view of the law -- "Although numerous the mitigating factors found to exist when balanced against the aggravating factors found to exist cannot reasonbl[y] be determined to outweigh them. I find no reasonable probability that the resulting imposition of the death sentence would have been

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup>Mr. Heiney contends below that additional mitigating factors were also established by the evidence presented at the hearing.

different had the trial court been given the opportunity to consider the above found mitigating factors" (PC-R. 2335). However, in an override case, the correct standard for assessing the prejudice resulting from a trial attorney's deficient performance is the standard enunciated by this Court in Stevens v. State, 552 So. 2d 1082, 1087 (Fla. 1989): "if the trial judge views the case as one without any mitigating circumstances when in fact those circumstances exist, then confidence in the trial judge's decision to reject the jury's recommendation is undermined." Under this standard, Mr. Heiney is entitled to relief: the lower court found, as matters of fact, that defense counsel did not investigate for the penalty phase, that had defense counsel investigated he would have discovered evidence supporting mitigating factors, and that mitigating factors did exist. At trial, defense counsel presented no evidence of mitigation, and the trial judge found that no mitigating circumstances existed. The lower court erred, and Mr. Heiney is entitled to resentencing.

A. The Facts Presented at the Evidentiary Hearing and Found By the Lower Court Establish Mr. Heiney's Entitlement to Relief

A claim of ineffective assistance of counsel is tested by the standard established by Strickland v. Washington, 446 U.S. 668 (1984), which requires the defendant to demonstrate both deficient attorney performance and resulting prejudice. As reflected by the lower court's factfindings at the evidentiary hearing, Mr. Heiney satisfied, through substantial competent and uncontroverted evidence, each prong of Strickland's test concerning the penalty phase of his capital trial.

The Rule 3.850 court concluded that trial counsel's performance was measurably below that required of reasonably competent counsel due to counsel's failure to investigate, discover and present readily available evidence of mitigation. "It should be beyond cavil that an attorney who fails altogether to make any preparations for the penalty phase of a capital murder trial deprives his client of reasonably effective assistance of counsel by any objective standard of reasonableness."

Stevens v. State, 552 So.2d 1082, 1087 (Fla. 1989), quoting Blake v. Kemp, 758 F.2d 523, 533 (11th Cir.), cert. denied, 474 U.S. 998 (1985).

Mr. Pascoe, the trial attorney, testified that Mr. Heiney's case was his first (and last) capital case (PC-R. 6). Mr. Pascoe admitted that he did not obtain Mr. Heiney's school, juvenile or military records. Counsel did not question Mr. Heiney's family regarding child abuse (physical or emotional), head injuries or substance abuse (PC-R. 11),<sup>2</sup> nor did he have a recollection of ever interviewing witnesses who had known Mr. Heiney in the time period immediately preceding the offense regarding Mr. Heiney's history of substance abuse (PC-R. 13).

Despite conducting no investigation regarding Mr. Heiney's background, defense counsel did recognize that Mr. Heiney had mental health problems which deserved investigation. Counsel testified that at the time of Mr. Heiney's trial, "I was of the opinion that Mr. Heiney did have drug problems, very serious drug problems" and that he knew that right before the offense Mr. Heiney was drinking alcohol (PC-R. 26). Counsel also testified that one of his conversations with Mr. Heiney "certainly made me suspect something" about Mr. Heiney's mental state (PC-R. 28). At the time of trial, counsel believed Mr. Heiney "had psychological problems" and "obviously he's got some neurosis" (PC-R. 29). Counsel did file a motion for a mental health expert regarding guilt/innocence phase issues (PC-R. 18-19). Counsel also acknowledged that his file contained

(continued...)

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2</sup>The State stipulated, and the lower court accepted, the fact that Jean Vallera, one of Mr. Heiney's sisters, was in contact with defense counsel at the time of Mr. Heiney's trial (PC-R. 63).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>3</sup>That evaluation was conducted by Linda Haese, whose affidavit was received in evidence without objection (PC-R. 115). Ms. Haese's affidavit states:

<sup>2.</sup> In 1978 I had just graduated from school and was employed by the Okaloosa Guidance Clinic. I did most of the evaluations at the local county jails. I had little or no guidance, and I didn't really know what I was doing in conducting court-orderd evaluations. Generally, these evaluations consisted of brief interviews and limited testing, and a brief report.

<sup>3.</sup> I have reviewed my report of one such evaluation I conducted at the time, an evaluation of Robert D. Heiney. As reflected by my report, I had no knowledge of Mr. Heiney's history when I conducted the evaluation, including his prior head injuries, history of child abuse, numerous recommendations by school and prison authorities that he receive psychiatric treatment, history of severe headaches, or history of severe substance abuse.

his handwritten note regarding the need for a motion for a psychiatric examination to be used in the penalty phase (PC-R. 23). The note stated, "mot for psych exam to be used in sentencing hearing or ample time bet trial and sentencing hearing -- shrink of D's choice" (Defense Ex. F; PC-R. 764). Counsel testified that the note indicated he wanted to present mental health evidence at the penalty phase: "This statement -- Motion for Psych Exam to be used for sentencing hearing, I would say obviously, yeah, planning on using it at the sentencing hearing" (PC-R. 23). No such motion was ever filed. Counsel had no recollection of ever discussing mitigation with any mental health expert or what a mental health expert could have said in the penalty phase (PC-R. 21). However, counsel acknowledged that he argued to the jury during the penalty phase that Mr. Heiney was under the influence of extreme mental or emotional distress and that his capacity to conform to the law was substantially impaired at the time of the offense (R. 1328; PC-R. 21-22).

\* \* \*

7. Had I been provided with a history of child abuse, head injury, severe substance abuse and mental problems since the age of five, I would have been on notice that further evaluation was necessary. I was not asked to evaluate for mitigation and did not do so.

(Defense Exhibit P; see also PC-R. 97-98)(emphasis added).

<sup>3(...</sup>continued)

<sup>4.</sup> A background of a person being evaluated is essential to conducting a thorough evaluation and arriving at accurate conclusions. For example, a history of head injury, severe substance abuse, explosive behavior, mood swings, and severe headaches are the type of background data which indicate the advisability of testing for brain damage. I was not provided Mr. Heiney's school records, prior prison records, military records or statements of family regarding his history of child abuse.

<sup>5.</sup> Under the circumstances, I did not have the background information or resources to enable me to do a full blown evaluation of Mr. Heiney. Further, it was not my understanding that I was being asked to do such an evaluation. I was not a licensed psychologist or neuropsychologist so I was not qualified to evaluate Mr. Heiney for brain damage.

In addition to acknowledging his lack of investigation for the penalty phase, trial counsel testified that the information available regarding Mr. Heiney's background was the kind of information he would have attempted to present at the penalty phase:

ation he would have attempted to present at the penalty phase:		
Q Okay. If there was evidence that you could have presented, for instance, that Mr. Heiney was beaten by his father who had a violent temper, is that the type of thing you would have attempted to present?		
A Definitely I would have attempted to present it.		
Q If there was evidence that as a child they tied him to a cement block in the front yard and he would go about in the yard dragging the cement block, is that the type of thing you would want them to know?		
A Yes.		
Q And if there was evidence that due to the abuse and other problems he was having there in the home that he used to deliberately run in front of cars when he was four and five years old, is that evidence you would have wanted them to know?		
A Yes.		
Q And if, in fact, Mr. Heiney suffered head injuries both as a child and as an adult, is that something you would want the judge and jury to know that he has head injuries that may have damaged his brain?		
A Yes, uh-huh.		
Q Would you have wanted the judge and jury to know that this brain damage may have or has contributed to mood disorders and temper outbursts, that sort of thing?		
A Yes.		
Q Now you were trying to prove, I believe at the when you argued to the jury, one of the things you argued was that he was drunk when all this happened. Would it have helped to prove or would you have liked the jury to know that he had actually had a lengthy history of very serious drug and alcohol abuse?		
A Yes.		
Q And would it have been helpful to know that immediately prior to the murder he was abusing heroin, marijuana and alcohol every day?		
A Yes.		
Q And would it have been something you wanted to present to the judge and jury that he had a lengthy history of serious mental problems due to the child abuse the brain damage, and the drug abuse?

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