JUL 30 1992

IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

CASE NO. 78,338

CLERK, SUPREME COURT By\_\_\_\_\_\_ Chief Deputy Clerk

ROBERT DAVID HEINEY,

Appellant,

HARRY K. /SINGLETARY,

Appellee.

#### ON APPEAL FROM THE CIRCUIT COURT OF THE FIRST JUDICIAL CIRCUIT, IN AND FOR OKALOOSA COUNTY, FLORIDA

ANSWER BRIEF OF APPELLEE

ROBERT A. BUTTERWORTH ATTORNEY GENERAL

MARK C. MENSER Assistant Attorney General Florida Bar No. 239161

DEPARTMENT OF LEGAL AFFAIRS The Capitol Tallahassee, FL 32399-1050 (904) 488-0600

COUNSEL FOR APPELLEE

##

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

#### SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

Mr. Heiney's appeal fails to demonstrate reversible error by the lower court in rejecting his claim of ineffective assistance of counsel.

Heiney failed to establish "error," since he - as cocounsel - shared responsibility for all strategic decisions.

Heiney failed to show prejudice because he failed to show that his "new evidence" existed, was available, or even would have been used.

In sum, Heiney's petition was simply a hindsight laden exercise in conjecture over the potential success of an alternate approach to his case. Such conjecture does not prove ineffective assistance of co-counsel.

#### ARGUMENT

THE APPELLANT IS NOT ENTITLED TO **FAILURE** ΤO RELIEF GIVEN HIS ESTABLISH "ERROR" "PREJUDICE" AND DEFINED ASBY STRICKLAND v. WASHINGTON.

(A) Standard of Review

Claims of ineffective assistance of counsel are judged pursuant to the standards announced in Strickland v. Washington, 466 U.S. 688 (1984). In order to prevail, litigants such as Mr. Heiney must satisfy the conjunctive requirements of Strickland's "error and prejudice" test. Error, as defined, means error so serious that counsel was the equivalent of "no counsel at all," while "prejudice" means an adverse impact so severe that, but for counsel's error, the result of the trial would probably have been different.

Strickland notes that the strategic and tactical decisions of counsel, even if "professionally unreasonable" by hindsight, will not establish "ineffectiveness." Ferguson v. State, 17 FLW S92 (Fla.1992); Rose v. State, 17 FLW S393 (Fla.1992); Provenzano v. State, 561 So.2d 541 (Fla.1990). Strickland also holds that no two defense attorneys would ever try a case in exactly the

same way, and the fact that an alternate strategy "might gave worked better" does not establish either error or prejudice.

In keeping with this approach, the state and federal courts have concurred that counsel's conduct must be judged from "the attorney's shoes, at the time" and <u>not</u> by hindsight. Rose v. State, supra; Mulligan v. Kemp, 771 F.2d 1436 (11th Cir.1985). Thus, counsel's alleged errors may be offset by the conduct of the defendant. Burger v. Kemp, 483 U.S. 776 (1987). For example, counsel cannot be faulted for failing to call witnesses if the client forbids it, Foster v. Strickland, 707 F.2d 1339 (11th Cir.1983); Foster v. Dugger, 823 F.2d 402 (11th Cir.1987) or where the client withholds information from counsel. Funchess v. Wainwright, 772 F.2d 683 (11th Cir.1985); Tucker v. Kemp, 776 F.2d 1487 (11th Cir.1985); Burger v. Kemp, 483 U.S. 776 (1987).

Defense counsel is not required to put on any particular defense, Card v. Dugger, 911 F.2d 1494 (11th Cir.1990) and is not required to prepare or present a false defense. Scott v. Dugger, 891 F.2d 802 (11th Cir.1990). This is true even of the popular "mental health" defenses which dominate collateral review proceedings. If the client does not manifest signs of mental illness and if any alleged incapacity does not appear to have influenced the client's conduct during the crime, counsel is not required to prepare a mental health defense. Blanco v. State,<sup>2</sup>

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2</sup> It should be noted that the Eleventh Circuit interpreted the facts of Blanco differently and found counsel ineffective. Blanco v. Singletary, 943 F.2d 1477 (11th Cir.1991). Unlike this case, Blanco did not involve a defendant who was examined by experts prior to trial and found competent.

507 So.2d 1377 (Fla.1987); Groover v. State, 574 So.2d 97 (Fla.1991); Harich v. Dugger, 844 F.2d 1464 (11th Cir.1988).

In certain cases, counsel's conduct is tempered even further by the defendant's elevation, under Faretta v. California, 422 U.S. 806 (1975), to the status of co-counsel. In Bundy v. State, 497 So.2d 1209, 1210 (Fla.1986) this Court held:

> "We find the claim of ineffective assistance insubstantial. Appellant, fully advised by the trial court of the availability of chose appointed counsel, to represent himself. noted by the United States As Supreme Court in Faretta v. California, [citation] 'whatever else may or may not be open to him on appeal, a defendant who elects represent himself to cannot thereafter complain that the quality of his own defense amounted to be denial of 'effect assistance of counsel'.'"

Bundy controls this case. The Appellant, after a full psychological evaluation by Dr. Sasser and his staff, and after a proper Faretta hearing, was allowed to serve as his own attorney. Mr. Pascoe, at that point, was relegated to the status of cocounsel.

Oddly, Mr. Heiney never brought up this issue in either the Rule 3.850 hearing or in his brief to this Court. Heiney's status as lead counsel was central to any disposition of this case, yet the trial judge never alluded to this fact while attributing "error" to Mr. Pascoe.<sup>3</sup> Thus, even though Judge Gordon was correct in denying relief, he reached the correct

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>3</sup> This point was argued by the state in the lower court, particularly in the telephonic hearing conducted May 18, 1989, with Judge Gordon, CCR (attorney Daugherty) and this attorney (TR 30).

result for the wrong reason. Savage v. State, 156 So.2d 566 (Fla. 1st DCA 1963).

The usual "error and prejudice" analysis of Strickland does not apply to this case. Instead, Bundy and Faretta control. Although the state will discuss error and prejudice, any review must be conducted from counsel's shoes, at the time, as mere cocounsel to Heiney himself.

(B) Strickland Analysis: "Error"

In Burger v. Kemp, 483 U.S. 776 (1987) the Supreme Court held that the responsibility of counsel for any "errors" committed prior to or during trial is diminished by the conduct of the client. Thus, when the client preempts strategic decisions, withholds the names of witnesses or refuses to cooperate with counsel, any resulting "error" lies in the lap of the client, not counsel. Rose v. State, supra; Agan v. State, 503 So.2d 1254 (Fla.1987); Funchess v. Wainwright, 772 F.2d 683 (11th Cir.1985); LoConte v. Dugger, 847 F.2d 745 (11th Cir.1988); Tucker v. Kemp, 776 F.2d 1487 (11th Cir.1985). When the attorney under attack was not even lead counsel, his responsibility is diminished still further.

In the lower court, Heiney took strategic measures to keep the Faretta issue away from the Court. For example, Heiney obtained and never disclosed the defense team files. When it suited his purposes, small portions of his files were released, but the files were never disclosed. Also, Heiney never testified and, therefore, never explained why he, as counsel, never forced Mr. Pascoe to pursue the theories of defense that Heiney now

advocates. In fact, Heiney never explained a number of factors, including:

- (1) Why he never insisted on having witnesses called on his behalf.
- (2) Why he never contacted his relatives. (Assuming he did not.)
- (3) Why he refused to cooperate with the staff at the Okaloosa Clinic.
- (4) Why he pursued his Faretta option if he wanted an incompetency evaluation.

Indeed, the evidentiary hearing in this case is most peculiar due to the silence of Mr. Heiney and the petitioner's concealment of key evidence. Heiney's dubious conduct tainted the proceedings below, as evidenced by the following incident:

As noted in the statement of the facts, Heiney used the testimony of Mr. Pascoe and Kay Yanni to create the false impression that Pascoe never called Heiney's relatives. Heiney's sister, Mrs. Vallera, upset the apple cart by revealing that Mr. Pascoe <u>did</u> call, and that she, in turn, contacted other family members. At that point Heiney had to disclose that counsel's file contained written proof that the family was called - but nothing else was disclosed.

The so-called "full and fair hearing" Heiney sought from this Court was, in fact, limited by Heiney's manipulation of the evidence to reveal only half of the facts and virtually nothing about his <u>own</u> conduct (under Faretta) as counsel. Thus, Heiney's extensive citations to the hearing transcripts are inherently irrelevant to the issues.

Even so, if we examine Mr. Pascoe's conduct from his shoes, at the time, we still find no error based upon this record, towit:

- Pascoe's co-counsel dictated an alibi (1)Mr. defense which rendered any penalty phase "incompetence" defense contradictory and incredible.
- (2) Mr. Pascoe's co-counsel was examined by mental health experts and found to be competent, cutting off the need for additional evaluations. Groover v. State, 574 So.2d 97 (Fla.1991).
- (3) Mr. Pascoe's co-counsel was found competent (under Faretta) and was therefore responsible for any disclosures to the doctors or the courts.
- (4) Mr. Pascoe won a life recommendation from the jury and was, competent. Buford v. State, 492 So.2d 355 (Fla.1986).

Strategic decisions, including the decision not to put on conflicting guilt and penalty phase defenses, are not subject to review under Strickland. Provenzano v. Dugger, 561 So.2d 541 (Fla.1991); Jones v. State, 528 So.2d 1171 (Fla.1988); Rose v. State, supra; Straight v. State, 422 So.2d 827 (Fla.1982).<sup>4</sup>

Before leaving the topic of "error" one other issue must be confronted. Prior to trial, Heiney was examined by Dr. Sasser and his staff at the Okaloosa Guidance Clinic. For the benefit of his Rule 3.850 hearing, Heiney attacked Linda Haese, an assistant at the clinic, as an "unlicensed psychologist" who was <u>per se</u> incompetent and who should have been challenged by Mr. Pascoe. This assertion is propped up by a dubious "roll over"

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>7</sup> In Straight, the vary tactical decision involved in this case was considered and found not to constitute error.

affidavit<sup>5</sup> from Ms. Haese - who was not produced at the Rule 3.850 hearing and was not shown to be unavailable to testify.

What Heiney did not tell the lower court was that Ms. Haese, as a staff employee at the clinic, was exempt from any licensing requirement under contemporary law. Sect. 490.23(1)(a), Fla. Stat. (1977). Furthermore, Ms. Haese was supervised by Dr. Sasser, who was licensed.

Although Heiney tried very hard to twist the lower court proceedings into a disjointed, hindsight-laden review of the conduct of Mr. Pascoe, with no review of his own conduct as cocounsel, he cannot hide from the record on appeal. The absolute failure of Mr. Heiney's brief to confront the actual facts is a tacit admission that trial co-counsel, Mr. Pascoe, cannot be held responsible for any alleged "error" orchestrated by Mr. Heiney.

(C) Strickland Analysis: "Prejudice"

Mr. Heiney's arguments regarding "prejudice" rely upon certain basic assumptions which enjoy no support from this record.

First, Heiney presumes that the life recommendation won by counsel through the use of a "residual doubt" defense would also have resulted from his touted mental health defense. This notion is not supported by any evidence and is purely speculative. It is quite probable that Heiney's jury would have suggested "death"

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>5</sup> The reliability of these post-hoc confessions of malpractice by people who were involved with the defense has been questioned before. Routly v. State, 16 FLW S677 (Fla.1991); Kelly v. State, 569 So.2d 754 (Fla.1990); Hill v. Dugger, 556 So.2d 1385 (Fla.1990). Other affidavits may be of dubious reliability given their source. Kelly v. State, supra.

if Heiney told them "I lied before, but trust me now, I'm sick." It is not appropriate, therefore, for Heiney to suggest that he would have had the benefit of a life recommendation and any subsequent review under **Tedder v. State**, 322 So.2d 908 (Fla.1975).

Second, Heiney presumes that the favorable mental health reports he was able to procure for his Rule 3.850 hearing either could or would have been available in 1978.

The idea that these evaluations "would" have been obtained is seriously refuted by the record. Heiney had the opportunity to see and cooperate with experts at the Okaloosa Guidance Clinic but did not take advantage of the chance. There is nothing in the record, not even testimony from Heiney himself, that he would have cooperated with the doctors or allowed them the opportunity to prepare the defense upon which he now relies.

The question of whether Heiney "could" have obtained the same diagnosis in 1979 was not settled at the Rule 3.850 hearing.

First of all, Dr. Toomer and Dr. Larson evaluated Heiney more than a decade after trial, using records that did not exist in 1979. No effort was made (below) to filter out the irrelevant and post-hoc data which tainted the conclusions of the experts. In Drope v. Missouri, 420 U.S. 162 (1975) the Supreme Court held that the Missouri courts, despite other errors, did <u>not</u> err in excluding tainted nunc pro tunc testimony of this kind.

Second, Drs. Toomer and Larson evaluated Heiney using the DSM III R, a text which sets forth criteria that did not exist in 1979. This distinction is important, since the criteria used by

Drs. Toomer and Larson differed from those used by Dr. Sasser;

to-wit:

"Psychiatry has been continuously plagued by difficulties in achieving reliable classification. The American Psychiatric official Association has revised the diagnostic manual at a quickening pace: The first Diagnostic and Statistical Manual of Mental Disorders (DSM I) was published in 1952, DSM II in 1968, DSM III in 1982, and DSM III revised in 1987. The next revision, DSM IV, is slated for publication in the early 1990's. This process of revision little resembles the refinement of categories cumulative gains common to advanced or fields. DSM I and II often scientific produced poor inter-rater agreement (5), and the diagnostic system was radically altered with the publication of DSM III. DSM III introduced specific classification more procedures, changed hundreds of diagnostic criteria, and added or eliminated numerous categories of disorder. DSM III R introduced about 200 additional changes in diagnostic guidelines and criteria."

Faust & Ziskin, <u>The Expert Witness in</u> <u>Psychology and Psychiatry</u>, <u>Science</u> Vol. 241, p. 31 (1988).

Third, the record contained no proof that Drs. Toomer or Larson were available to testify in 1979. In fact, Mr. Heiney's contention that he would or could have obtained his current diagnosis in 1979 is refuted by his lack of cooperation with Dr. Sasser and his desire to be found competent for the sake of his Faretta motion. Heiney failed to prove that he would have

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>o</sup> Faust and Ziskin note that the DSM criteria establish clinical criteria which do not, as often touted, correspond to "legal" criteria for capacity to appreciate the consequences of one's actions. (Id. at 32). Thus, people falling within a diagnosis of "Post Traumatic Stress Disorder" may, for example, vary widely in "legal" competence. This uncertainty opens up vast opportunities to abuse psychological "evidence" for personal benefit. (Id. at 32).

received the same diagnosis in 1979 or that he even wanted such a diagnosis. There is no foundation for any claim of "prejudice" on the basis of the entire record.

Heiney's problems in establishing prejudice do not stop there, however. Heiney's responsibility below was to establish a reasonable <u>probability</u> of a different result "but for" counsel's error. Even if we ignore Heiney's status as co-counsel, and even if we ignore the basis for the jury's "life" recommendation and even if we assume that Heiney would or could have gotten the favorable evaluation he now touts, we cannot ignore the existence of three valid statutory aggravating factors.<sup>7</sup>

It is submitted that mere personality disorders carried even less mitigating weight in 1979 than they do today.<sup>8</sup> In Ferguson v. State, 417 So.2d 631 (Fla.1982) this Court, despite remanding the case (because the judge used the M'Naghten Test for weighing mental mitigating evidence), held that the "heinous, atrocious, cruel (HAC) aggravating factor outweighed evidence of a sociopathic personality disorder coupled with paranoidschizophrenic tendencies and "Ganser Syndrome." In Foster v. State, 369 So.2d 928 (Fla.1979) psychiatric records and testimony from three experts failed to preclude a death sentence in a case factually similar to this one. In Johnson v. State, 442 So.2d 185 (Fla.1983) the existence of organic brain damage and assorted

<sup>&#</sup>x27; The murder was especially heinous, atrocious and cruel, it was committed by a person under sentence and it was committed during a robbery.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>8</sup> Ake v. Oklahoma, 470 U.S. 68 (1985) notes that the courts view of psychological evidence tends to change as this infant science progresses and evolves.

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